



Minutes of the meeting of the GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE held in the Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, Barmston Mere on Monday 29 November 2021 at 10.30am.

Item 3

Present:

Mr G N Cook in the Chair

Councillors Burdis, Keegan and Ord together with Mr M Knowles.

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were submitted to the meeting on behalf of Councillors Bell, Dodds and Flynn together with Miss Goodwill.

Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

Minutes

30. RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Governance Committee held on 30 July 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

Corporate Risk Management

The Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive (the Clerk to the Authority), the Finance Director and the Personnel Advisor to the Authority submitted a joint report informing Members of the outcome of the latest quarterly review of the Authority's Corporate Risk Register (CRR) undertaken by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) at their meeting on 7 September 2021.

The Corporate Risk Register was a culmination of a wide ranging review of the risks facing the Fire Authority and identified ten risks which may directly impinge on the work of the Authority. The register was reviewed monthly by ELT and reported to the Fire Authority on a bi-annual basis.

There had been a full review of Risk Management in April 2021 and DCFO Heath advised Members that three of the ten risks had been categorised as having a 'substantial' impact on the service should the risk not be treated and mitigated against appropriately. These were: -

- 11/02 Risk that financial pressures would impact on the Service's decision-making and delivery of its goals/priorities and objectives (risk rating 12, risk trend static).
- 01/20 Risk that the impending Remedy for Age Discrimination in Pension Schemes results in detrimental Financial and workforce impacts for the Service (risk rating 10, risk trend static).
- 03/21 Failure to attain anticipated grading as a result of HMICFRS may impact on the reputation of the Service and represent a significant increase in workload to implement improvement activities (risk rating 12, risk trend increased likelihood from 3 to 4 following September review).

DCFO Heath stated that the Authority was currently in week six of an eight week HMICFRS inspection and that significant improvements have been made based on feedback. The Service had been rated as Good in the past and would expect to be Good in the future; it would be next summer before the full inspection report was available.

Mr Knowles commended the report and noted the good practice of critically evaluating the register which provided a lot of assurance for the Committee. He was also pleased to see that the Executive Leadership Team reviewed this on a monthly basis.

Mr Knowles asked about the background to the de-escalation of the ICT risk and Area Manager Clark highlighted that the Digital Data Strategy was part of the transformation programme and over the last 18 months there had been significant investment in replacing ICT infrastructure. The resilience and reliability of the infrastructure was now much stronger and had been measured against the Cyber Essentials Plus checklist. Whilst ICT issues were not taken lightly, it was felt that the Service was now in a much better place than previously.

DCFO Heath added that data and digital was one of the key benefits of the TWFRS 2025 programme which also included all hazards approach to firefighter safety, inclusion, diversification of the workforce and equality, and this approach was transforming the work of the Service.

Having given the report due consideration, it was: -

- 31. RESOLVED that: -
 - (i) the content of the report be reviewed and noted; and
 - (ii) further reports be received as appropriate.

Statement of Assurance 2020/2021

The Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive (the Clerk to the Authority) and the Finance Director submitted a joint report presenting the Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Authority's 2020/2021 Statement of Assurance (SOA) for the Committee's consideration, endorsement and progression to full Fire Authority for agreement to publish.

Fire and rescue authorities in England were required to provide sufficient assurance that they were acting in accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England and by producing a Statement of Assurance, the Authority provided information to communities, the Government, local authorities and partners which allowed them to make a valid assessment of the Authority's performance during 2020/2021.

The Statement of Assurance was a 'look-back' document which provided information and evidence to demonstrate compliance with the National Framework and signposts to supporting documents. The publication of the Statement of Assurance supported the Authority to ensure the effective and efficient use of resources and there were no direct financial or risk implications.

Councillor Burdis highlighted the excellent work which had been carried out by TWFRS staff over the pandemic and the huge benefit that this had for residents. The Service had done a great job of getting out there in very difficult times and people should be made aware of this. Councillor Ord echoed these comments.

Following consideration of the report, it was: -

- 32. RESOLVED that: -
 - (i) the contents of the Statement of Assurance be noted;
 - (ii) it be agreed that the Statement of Assurance properly and accurately reflects the risk environment and good governance arrangements of the fire and rescue service; and
 - (iii) the Statement of Assurance be progressed to full Fire Authority for their approval in its current form.

Compliments and Complaints Annual Report 2020/2021

The Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive (the Clerk to the Authority), the Finance Director and the Personnel Advisor to the Authority submitted a joint report providing an overview of the compliments and complaints received by Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service (TWFRS) from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.

Complaints and compliments were a valuable source of information and could help to identify areas of good practice, underlying problems and/or potential areas for improvement. DCFO Heath explained that following some re-organisation over the last 18 months, the Business Improvement Team had been looking at complaints and compliments and taking a more structured approach to these.

During 2020/2021, the Service had received 29 complaints, one of these had been for another fire and rescue service and one for North East Ambulance Service so that gave a total of 27 complaints against 47,000 interactions. Any complaint was taken seriously and just under half (48%) were upheld following investigation. A full breakdown of the complaints was included within the appendix to the report.

A large proportion of the 41 compliments received were in recognition of the work conducted by staff during the pandemic in support of blue light colleagues and partners. Examples of the compliments were set out in the appendix and a full list was available to Members on request.

Feedback was also received from third party organisations and the 'thank yous' showed the contribution the Service made to local communities and how much this was valued.

Members were directed to Figure 7 which showed performance against timescales for dealing with complaints and noted that 89% had been dealt within the 28 day timescale. DCFO Heath highlighted that although numbers were small, the complaints and compliments received were valuable in understanding how to do better and that what the Service was doing was making a difference.

The Chair said that he was very impressed with the report and it brought out the breadth of activities which the Service was involved in. Mr Knowles noted that both compliments and complaints were a learning opportunity and asked if there was a sense of comparison.

DCFO Heath said that information was shared through the North East Principal Officers and Tyne and Wear had higher response rates, possibly as the Service was more active in seeking feedback. There was a tendency to hear more about less positive experiences and for the Service to minimise its successes.

Accordingly the Committee: -

- 33. RESOLVED that: -
 - (i) the contents of the report be noted; and
 - (ii) further reports be received as appropriate.

Internal Audit Annual Progress Report – 2021/2022

The Head of Internal Audit submitted a report setting out the performance of Internal Audit up to November 2021, areas of work undertaken and the internal audit opinion regarding the adequacy of the overall system of internal control within the Authority.

The Head of Internal Audit advised that all Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) were on target and that six audit areas had been included within the 2021/2022 plan. Two

audits had been completed in relation to Project Management and Financial Management – Reserves Strategy. It was highlighted that the assurance position for Project Management was Moderate which reflected that although the new procedures were robust, there were some compliance issues which were to be expected with any new processes.

Two further audits relating to Counter Fraud and Information Governance would commence imminently and the remaining audits on Performance Management and Corporate Governance were due to be completed by the end of the financial year.

The overall opinion on each risk area, based on the last three years' audit work remained very positive.

34. RESOLVED that the report be noted.

Treasury Management – Second Quarterly Review 2021/2022

The Finance Director submitted a report on the Treasury Management Performance for the second quarter of 2021/2022.

The Authority's Treasury Management function continued to look at ways to maximise financial savings and increase investment returns to the revenue budget whilst maintaining a balanced risk position. It was highlighted that Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates had continued to be volatile, primarily in response to the economic impact of Covid-19. In respect of borrowing, due to the temporary use of reserves to fund the Capital Programme no new borrowing had been taken out to date during 2021/2022.

It was noted that the Authority's interest rate on borrowing was very low, currently 2.81%, and as such the Authority continued to benefit from this low cost of borrowing and from the ongoing savings from past debt rescheduling exercises.

Treasury Management Prudential Indicators were regularly reviewed and the Authority was within the limits set for all its Treasury Management Prudential Indicators for 2021/2022. The statutory limit under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003, which was required to be reported separately, (also known as the Authorised Borrowing Limit for External Debt) was set at £50.272 million for 2021/2022. The Authority's maximum external debt during the financial year to 30 September 2021 was £35.423 million and was well within this limit. Details of all of the Treasury Management Prudential Indicators were set out in Section 2 of Appendix A. The Finance Director assured the Committee that the indicators were monitored on a daily basis.

The Committee was advised that the Authority had achieved a rate of return on its investments of 0.01% in the first quarter of 2021/2022 compared with the benchmark rate of -0.08%. Performance remained above the benchmark rate, whilst still adhering to the prudent policy agreed by the Authority, in what remained a very challenging market.

The Finance Director highlighted that the Governor of the Bank of England had said that interest rates would remain low for the foreseeable future and with the stability of long term rates there was no reason to be rushed into any new borrowing. The strategy was to use reserves until the Authority was in a position to borrow funds. More detailed Treasury Management information was included within Appendix A to the report.

The regular updating of the Authority's Authorised Lending List was required to take into account financial institution mergers and changes in institutions' credit ratings since the previous report. The updated Approved Lending List was shown at Appendix C for information.

The Chair congratulated the team on managing and dealing with the vagueness of the current situation and noted the differing information which was being provided on inflation predictions. The Finance Director stated that the Government and the Bank of England had different views on this but both agreed that the rate would increase further before reducing (the Government predicting 4% and the Bank of England 5%). This did add budgetary pressure to the Authority as all plans were made on the assumption of 2% inflation and the increase would have to be factored into the budget for the next few years.

- 35. RESOLVED that:-
 - (i) the Treasury Management performance for the second quarter of 2021/2022, be noted; and
 - (ii) the Lending List Criteria at Appendix B, the changes to the Approved Lending List at Appendix C and the Risk Management Review of Treasury Management at Appendix D be noted.

Audited Statement of Accounts 2020-2021

The Finance Director submitted a report to present the Letter of Representation for 2020/2021 and to receive the Audit Completion Report from Mazars LLP concerning the financial statements for 2020/2021. This provided Mazars' opinion on the Authority's Statement of Accounts although the work on its arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources (Value for Money) was still in progress and would be provided by the auditors later as allowed under the revised regulations, which recognised the new more detailed reporting requirements for this aspect of the audit opinion from 2020/21.

The audited Statement of Accounts for 2020/2021 was thus presented for approval by the Committee.

Members were advised that the Authority was required to publish its Audited Statement of Accounts on its website by 30 September 2021, however the auditors had advised earlier in the year that timescales would not be met due to a backlog of work and a revised timescale of 30 November 2021 had been agreed.

Cameron Waddell and Joanne Greener from Mazars were in attendance to present

the Audit Completion Report.

Cameron advised that Mazars were proposing to issue an unqualified audit opinion and that the Code allowed three months to complete and report the Value for Money arrangements after the statutory deadline for providing the audit opinion and there were no significant weaknesses anticipated. It was highlighted that instructions had not yet been received from the National Audit Office in relation to the Whole of Government Accounts so work had not begun on that submission at this point.

The Committee were informed that the auditor of the Tyne and Wear Pension Fund had found a material misstatement in asset values submitted to the actuary. The figure was significant and work then had to be carried out to identify whether this would be material to the Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Authority. The misstatement was found to be material at £2.35m and a revised letter had been provided by the actuary. Members were assured that this did not affect the bottom line of the financial statements, although the accounts had been amended to reflect the revised pension information provided.

Joanne Greener went on to take Members through the Audit Completion Report and in doing so thanked the Finance Director and his team for their cooperation and support throughout the process. She advised that all work in relation to expenditure testing, inventory, property, plant and equipment had been completed. The status of the work on pensions was showing as red due to the reasons previously set out.

There had been no change to the audit approach and this was in line with what had been set out in the Audit Strategy Memorandum. Turning to the significant risks, there was nothing to report in relation to management override of controls and there was nothing further to highlight beyond the documented pensions issues in relation to net defined benefit liability valuation. In respect of the valuation of property, plant and equipment, the auditor had noted that the Authority's valuer had included a material valuation uncertainty statement in their valuation report and in turn, Mazars had included an 'emphasis of matter' paragraph in their report which drew attention to this higher degree of uncertainty.

The report also provided follow up on internal control recommendations made previously and the action which had been taken on these. There were two items highlighted in the summary of misstatements which were above the trivial level and had been adjusted by management.

The audit work for the Authority's approach to value for money had not yet been completed but there had been no issues identified as yet. The commentary on the Authority's arrangements would be provided in the Auditor's Annual Report in due course.

The Chair asked whether, notwithstanding the areas which still required completion, the external auditors were content with their audit findings. Cameron indicated that the audit had gone as smoothly as it could have done and a lot of time had been spent on the value for money element with no weaknesses found to date.

Councillor Burdis referred to the internal control recommendations and noted that the issue around members' allowances had been flagged up in February 2021 and

she would have expected this to have been rectified. Joanne Greener explained that this was a follow up from 2019/2020 and nothing had come up during testing. The Finance Director reassured Members that internal control issues were taken very seriously and would always be acted on straight away. This issue had in fact been fully resolved.

Having thanked Mazars for their presentation, the Committee: -

- 36. RESOLVED that: -
 - (i) the Letter of Representation be approved;
 - (ii) the contents of the External Auditor's Audit Completion Report be noted; and
 - (iii) the amended Statement of Accounts for the Financial Year ended 31 March 2021 be approved.

IRMP 2021-2024 Consolidated Document

The Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive (the Clerk to the Authority), the Finance Director and the Personnel Advisor to the Authority submitted a joint report to present the Service's consolidated Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2021-2024 for the awareness of the Committee.

The Authority was required to produce an IRMP covering a least a three year period which must be easily accessible and publicly available. At the Authority meeting in October 2021, four proposed IRMP actions were approved and this enabled the design and production of the IRMP 2021-2024 consolidated document which was now being formalised through the Committee to ensure good governance around its publication.

The IRMP 2021-2024 consolidated document: -

- provided information on what an IRMP was and does, to support public understanding;
- provided a signpost to the Service's Community Risk Profile the comprehensive range of information used to inform community risk management and the development of corporate strategy and the IRMP;
- demonstrated how prevention, protection, response and resilience activities would best be used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified risks on its communities;
- outlined the allocation of resources for the mitigation of risks;
- set out the high level management strategy to ensure the provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 were met, and recommendations of the Grenfell Tower Enquiry were implemented;
- presented the four actions as approved by the Authority following the period of formal consultation with partners, the public, representative bodies and staff.

Councillor Burdis was pleased to see the document being presented to the Committee and found it reassuring to see the way forward for the Authority set out in IRMP 2021-2024.

- 37. RESOLVED that: -
 - (i) the publication of the IRMP 2021-2024 document be noted; and
 - (ii) the IRMP consolidated document be presented to the full Fire Authority meeting for their information.
- (Signed) G N COOK Chair